
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No.  

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION,
JANELL MOSELEY, and
DALE MOSELEY,

Plaintiffs,

v.

BETHANY CHRISTIAN SERVICES OF COLORADO,

Defendant.
                                                                                                                                                      

COMPLAINT
                                                                                                                                                      

Plaintiffs Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition, Janell Moseley and Dale Moseley, by and

through their attorneys Kevin W. Williams and Fox & Robertson, P.C., hereby submit this 

Complaint for violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 504 of the

Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for discrimination on the basis of disability in the provision of child

placement agency services.

INTRODUCTION

1. The  Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. (“ADA”), was

enacted in 1990.  One of the principal goals of the ADA is eliminating discrimination against

people with disabilities based on myths, stereotypes and misperceptions about their abilities.
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2. Title III of the ADA provides that “[n]o individual shall be discriminated against

on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities,

privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public accommodation by any person

who owns, leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public accommodation.”  42 U.S.C. §

12182(a).  

3. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“Section 504") provides that “[n]o

otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States, . . .shall, solely by reason of

her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be

subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance   

. . . .  29 U.S.C. § 794(a).

4. One of the most fundamental rights all persons share is the right to be parents. 

The Plaintiffs in this case have been and wish to continue to be foster parents.  They have been

and continue to be excellent parents and have adopted foster children before.

5. Defendant is a child placement agency that provides various services, including

licensing foster care homes and providing foster care placements to families like the Moseleys. 

6. Defendant placed three foster children in the Moseleys’ home.

7. Upon learning that Plaintiff Janell Moseley had been diagnosed as having a

stroke, Defendant’s staff removed the foster children from the Moseleys’ home and refused to

place any other foster children in the Moseleys’ home.

JURISDICTION
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8. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331 and 1343.

9. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

PARTIES

10. Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) is a Colorado non-profit

corporation whose members are persons with disabilities and their nondisabled allies. 

11. Plaintiff Janell Moseley is a resident of Colorado.  She was diagnosed as having a

stroke.  As more fully explained below, Defendant regarded Janell Moseley as having a

disability under the ADA and Section 504 and discriminated against her solely on that basis. 

Janell Moseley is married to Dale Moseley.  Janell Moseley is a CCDC member.

12. Plaintiff Dale Moseley is a resident of Colorado.  He is the husband of Janell

Moseley.  As such, he is in a known relationship with and/or association with an individual

Defendant regarded as having a disability.  Dale Moseley is a member of CCDC.

13. Defendant Bethany Christian Services of Colorado is a non-profit corporation,

incorporated in Michigan, with its principal place of business in Colorado.  Defendant operates a

child placement agency that licenses foster care families and places children with foster care

families.

FACTS
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14. Plaintiffs Janell and Dale Moseley have been foster parents and have had children

placed with them in the past.

15. Plaintiffs Janell and Dale Moseley have adopted children that have been placed in

their home through the foster care system.

16. In January of 2003, Defendant placed three special needs foster children (“the

Foster children”) in the Moseley family’s home.  

17. The Moseley family cared for and nurtured the children back to health.  Janell and

Dale Moseley devoted countless hours working with healthcare professionals to do proper

speech, occupational and physical therapy in an effort to correct the damage that had been done

by malnutrition and neglect.  The Foster children were doing very well in the Moseleys’ home.

18. On March 23, 2003, Janell Moseley was hospitalized for evaluation of

neurological symptoms.

19. On April 7, 2003, Janell Moseleys’ physician diagnosed her as having had a

stroke.

20. On April 9, 2003, the Moseleys met with the Foster children’s caseworker and

explained Janell Moseley’s condition.  The caseworker expressed concern about Janell

Moseley’s health but stated that she did not believe the Foster children’s care was compromised.

21. Janell Moseley began rehabilitation in April of 2003.

22. The Moseleys wanted to adopt the Foster children in the event they came

available for adoption and made Defendant’s staff aware of this.
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23. On April 16, 2003, the Moseleys met with Jill Bradley, Defendant’s foster care

supervisor.  Ms. Bradley told the Moseleys about extensive support and services available from

Defendant for the Moseleys while Janell Moseley went through rehabilitation.  In addition, Ms.

Bradley gave the Moseleys a list of things they were required to do to maintain the Foster

children foster care placement, including obtaining a letter from Janell Moseley’s doctor stating

she was medically stable enough to care for the foster children.

24. The Moseleys obtained the required letter and several other letters from

healthcare professionals and provided them to Defendant.  These letters attested to Janell

Moseley’s ability to care for the Foster children.

25. The Foster children continued to thrive in the Moseley’s home.

26. On June 27, 2003, Janell Moseley had a second episode believed to be a seizure

related to the prior stroke and was hospitalized for evaluation.  Dale Moseley called Defendant’s

office to inform the agency about Janell Moseley’s condition, expecting the assistance promised

by Jill Bradley.  That assistance was not provided.  In order to address Janell Moseley’s medical

situation, on June 28, 2003, Dale Moseley arranged, without Defendant’s help, to place the

children in the temporary respite care of another foster care family licensed by the Defendant.

27. On June 30, 2003, Dale Moseley brought the children home.  Janell Moseley

remained in the hospital and was transferred to a rehabilitation unit to restart therapy.  She was

prescribed medication to prevent strokes or seizures.

28. On July 2, 2003, a regularly scheduled foster care review of the Foster children

was conducted at the El Paso County Department of Human Services.  Defendant’s foster care
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supervisor informed Dale Moseley at this meeting that because of Janell Moseley’s condition,

the Moseleys’ home was not an appropriate placement for the Foster children and Defendant

would permanently remove the Foster children from the Moseleys’ home.  Dale Moseley

expressed strong objections to this decision.

29. On July 3, 2003, Defendant removed the Foster children from the Moseleys’

home.

30. The entire time the Foster children were placed with the Moseleys, they were well

cared for and provided for.

31. The removal was traumatic for Janell and Dale Moseley, the Moseleys’ other

children and the Foster children.

32. On July 9, 2003, Dale Moseley met with Defendant’s staff including Maddi

Noleen, Director of Bethany Christian Services of Colorado.  Despite suggestions for continuing

the Foster children’s placement in the Moseleys’ home from Dale Moseley and the Foster

children’s guardian ad litem, Ms. Noleen refused to place the Foster children back in the

Moseleys’ home.  The reason she gave for this decision was Janell Moseley’s medical condition.

33. The Moseleys continued their efforts to have the Foster children returned to their

home, but at another meeting at Defendant’s offices on July 23, 2003, Defendant’s staff decided

that the removal of the children would be permanent, citing Janell Moseley’s medical condition

as the reason.

34. Defendant did not visit the Moseleys’ home to make an objective determination

about the placement of the Foster children.
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35. On September 22, 2003, Janell Moseley spoke to Jill Bradley about keeping the

Moseleys’ foster care license current because the Moseleys sought future foster care placements. 

Ms. Bradley informed Janell Moseley she would provide this information within the next week.  

36. Defendant’s staff never contacted the Moseleys.

37. On December 17, 2003, Janell Moseley called Jill Bradley about having two other

foster children placed in their home that were in a “kinship” placement with the Moseleys’ close

friends.  Ms. Bradley informed Janell Moseley that the Moseleys’ license was on “hold” status

and their home was no longer an approved foster care home.  During this meeting and in a phone

call on December 19, 2003, Defendant’s staff placed numerous new conditions on lifting the

hold on the Moseleys’ license and told them they were not even permitted to baby sit their close

friend’s children.

38. Having no other option for continuing as foster parents, on December 21, 2003,

the Moseleys resigned from Bethany Christian Services of Colorado and sought another child

placement agency for licensing.

39. An administrative review was held regarding the placement of the two children

who were in kinship care with the Moseleys’ close friends.  Janell Moseley specifically

requested that Defendant’s staff not attend this review since the Moseleys had resigned from that

agency.  Nevertheless, Jill Bradley attended the review and raised issues of Janell Moseley’s

medical condition as the reason why the children should not be placed with the Moseleys.

40. Defendant’s staff has actively opposed the Moseleys seeking to be foster parents

again.
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41. The Moseleys have requested that Defendant’s staff provide them with reasons

for their behavior and cease interfering with their right to be foster parents.  Defendant has not

responded.

42. CCDC’s purpose is to work for systemic change that promotes independence,

self-reliance, and full inclusion for people with disabilities in the entire community.  As part of

that purpose, CCDC seeks to ensure that persons with disabilities have access to -- and do not

encounter discrimination in -- services provided by child placement agencies.  

43. CCDC’s members include individuals with disabilities and their friends, relatives

and allies who have attempted to be or who have been foster parents or who seek to be foster

parents in the future. 

44. CCDC’s members have been injured and will continue to be injured by

Defendant’s discrimination described above.  Plaintiffs Janell Moseley and Dale Moseley are

members of CCDC.

45. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of Defendant, is the core of

CCDC’s organizational purpose.

46. The participation of individual CCDC members in the lawsuit is not required

either to resolve the claims at issue or to formulate relief.  

47. Plaintiffs have been damaged and will continue to be damaged by Defendant’s

discrimination.  

48. Plaintiffs the Moseleys would like to be licensed as foster parents and to have

foster children placed with them.



-9-

49. Plaintiffs Janell and Dale Moseley are interested in international adoption.

50. Defendant is one of the only child placement agencies in Colorado that handles

international adoptions in locations from which the Moseleys would like to adopt children.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act - “ADA”)

51. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 - 50 above as if fully set forth herein.

52. Title III of the ADA prohibits public accommodations from discriminating on the

basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges,

advantages, or accommodations of any place of public accommodation by any person who owns,

leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public accommodation.  42 U.S.C. § 12182(a).

53.  Defendant Bethany Christian Services of Colorado is a public accommodation

covered by the ADA.  42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(F).

54. Defendant violated the ADA by discriminating against Plaintiffs on the basis of

disability and by denying Plaintiff services.

55. Defendant violated the ADA by interfering with Plaintiffs’ attempts to be foster

parents on the basis of disability.

56. Plaintiffs have been damaged and will continue to be damaged by this

discrimination as more fully set forth above. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
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(Violation of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act - “Section 504")

57. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 - 56 above as if fully set forth herein.

58. Section 504 prohibits recipients of federal funding from denying, on the basis of

disability, the benefits provided by the recipient, or from subjecting persons with disabilities to

discrimination.  29 U.S.C. § 794(a).

59. On information and belief, Defendant receives federal funding.

60. Defendant violated Section 504 by discriminating against Plaintiffs on the basis

of disability and by denying Plaintiffs services.

61. Defendant violated Section 504 by interfering with Plaintiffs’ attempts to be

foster parents on the basis of disability.

62. Plaintiffs have been damaged and will continue to be damaged by this

discrimination as more fully set forth above. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully prays:

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction;

2. That this Court issue an order declaring Defendant to be in violation of the ADA

and Section 504;

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendant to bring its child

placement agency’s services and programs into compliance with the ADA and Section 504;
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4. That this Court award damages to Plaintiffs;

5. That this Court award to Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable. 

JURY DEMAND: Plaintiffs demand a jury on all issues which can be heard by a jury.

Respectfully submitted,

                                     
Kevin W. Williams
Legal Program Director
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
655 Broadway
Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
303.839.1775

Amy F. Robertson
Timothy P. Fox
Fox & Robertson, P.C.
910 16th Street
Suite 610
Denver, Colorado 80202
303.595.9700

Dated: April 26, 2004 Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Address of Plaintiffs Janell and Dale Moseley:

4198 Apache Plume Dr.
Colorado Springs, CO 80920

Address of Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition:
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655 Broadway
Suite 775
Denver, Colorado 80203


